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Magor Marsh.  ST 428 869
The name Magor is a Welsh word Magwyr meaning ‘wall’ but this has been interpreted in different ways.  The Reverend Thomas Morgan writing in 1887 claimed that it was a corruption of Magwyr,
 which signifies the remains or ruins of a decayed building, fortress etc.  Sir Joseph Bradney in his ‘History of Monmouthshire’ says Magor is called in Welsh Magwyr, meaning a wall. He also states that “Magor has been called Penfagwyr, which would mean the wall-end in the same way as Pen y bont is turned into English as Bridge-end.”
  Another definition of Magwyr is an enclosure or surrounding wall.
  
Geology
Magor Marsh Reserve lies inside the northern edge of the Caldicot Level. This is part of the Gwent Levels, a flat low-lying area formed mainly of peat, clay and silt. The Levels were part of the Severn Estuary floodplain until they were protected by a sea wall. The Gwent Levels stretch in a coastal strip from Chepstow to almost Cardiff.  They are divided into two main areas, the Wentlooge Levels to the west of the River Usk and the Caldicot Levels to the east. 
At the end of the last Ice Age, about 10,000 years ago, there was a rapid rise in sea level. What are now the Gwent Levels would have been covered by the sea, and large deposits of estuarine silt would have accumulated on top of the underlying bedrock.  Because of the lack of oxygen in the silt it eventually formed a blue-grey coloured clay, which archaeologists and geologists have named the “Lower Wentlooge Formation”. 
There was a very complicated pattern of landscape evolution in what are now the Levels and the Severn Estuary floodplain, with many variations in different localities. Around 6,000 years ago the sea receded and salt marshes formed.  Phragmites reed formed thick layers of peat that further raised the ground level and eventually created dry land. Some of this land was covered with trees, called fen carr.  Later on the fen carr was replaced by raised bogs. With rising sea levels the bogs and drier land were at times re-flooded and covered with estuarine clay, but later reverted to peat bogs as the sea again receded.
The Levels would have had a number of small meandering river channels flowing through them from the high ground towards the Severn.  One of these would have followed the line of Mill Reen to the east of the Reserve.  This flowed into the Severn Estuary by Magor Pill.  Another water channel may have been close to Blackwall Reen and have flowed into the Estuary by Coldharbour Pill.    
As well as teeming with birdlife, wild animals such as the aurochs (extinct wild cattle), deer and wild pigs would have roamed the area. The animals were hunted by early man, and human and animal footprints, dating to prehistoric times, have been found preserved in the clay of the Estuary.  There is plenty of evidence of prehistoric occupation of the Levels, but deliberate drainage through a system of ditches (reens) appears to have begun with the Romans and to have been intensive during and after the Middle Ages. 
Magor Marsh is a peaty back-fen next to higher ground of Carboniferous Limestone on which stands Magor village.  An ancient cliff line marked the edge of the original estuary but this feature has now been obscured by the railway embankment. Although much research has been done elsewhere on the formation of the peat and the episodes of flooding with alluvial silt, there is as yet no specific study available of the process that led to the formation of Magor Marsh.  However boreholes at Vurlong Reen on Caldicot Moor show that there was a layer of peat two metres thick overlying the blue-green clay of the “Lower Wentlooge Formation.”
  
To the south of the reserve there is a gradually sloping higher ridge of alluvial silt on which is situated Lower Grange Farm. This alluvial silt partly covers the southern edge of the Reserve, overlaying the peat by up to one metre. To the south of Lower Grange Farm is Pill Street, and in the Middle Ages Pill Street would have formed the boundary between the drained land of Lower Grange Farm to the north and the low lying salt marshes to the south. 
Magor Marsh is supplied with water from a number of springs along the north of the Reserve, the largest of these rising in Black Wall Reen and into an ancient pond called Pwll Uffern (in English Hells Pool). This is now part of the much enlarged reserve pond.  The water is slightly alkaline because of the limestone ridge from which it rises. This is unusual as most peat bogs are acidic.

Archaeology.
The origins of the reens on Magor Marsh Reserve, probably in the Middle Ages, are covered below. In addition there have been several Iron Age, Roman and Medieval discoveries near the Reserve.  In 1999 at Greenmoor Arch (now part of Gwent Europark to the west of Magor Marsh) remains of three Iron Age wooden huts were found. There were also a number of large of pits dug into the peat, presumably for peat extraction.
  An Iron Age hillfort existed on the top of Wilcrick Hill.  In 1993 a boat of native design, but of Roman date, was found in what had once been a natural river channel to the south of Wilcrick Hill at Barlands Farm.
   This is now in store in Newport Museum. There is also evidence for an important Roman building on Vinegar Hill, to the north east of Magor, and an impressive Roman stone coffin from there is in the National Museum of Wales. In 2004, at “West End”, on the higher ground just to the west of Magor Marsh, two sherds of Roman pottery were found with other features including a ditched enclosure and parts of buildings of medieval date.
  A Roman tile fragment and other objects were found at Magor Brewery during building work in 1978.  Two inhumations were also discovered. One burial was radiocarbon dated to between the 4th and 7th century AD.
 
In 2001, to the east of the Reserve, an archaeological survey discovered remnants of ridge-and furrow ploughing at “Three Fields”.  The area may have been used in the post medieval period as an orchard. Of particular interest was the presence of quartz pebbles in the peat and which may be evidence of human activity.  Similar pebbles were found in the peat at the Greenmoor Arch site in association with Iron Age activity, and Derek Upton also noticed them on Magor Marsh in the vicinity of the pond. Their purpose is not known.
 White Wall to the east of the reserve may lie on a section of a Roman road. This road appears to start somewhere near what is now Parc Seymour, crosses the main Roman road between Caerwent and Caerleon, near Penhow, along the line of the present A48, and then goes towards Magor Village, and ends near Magor Pill.  Its existence has been deduced from the present roads along the way, which form a straight line, and by the patterns which they preserve in the field boundaries. However further investigation is needed before it can be categorically proved that White Wall was Roman in origin.
Prehistoric huts, trackways and footprints have been found in the Severn Estuary at Chapeltump Farm, Magor Pill and Coldharbour Pill.
  A Roman port or settlement existed near the present Magor Pill, and quantities of Iron Age, Roman and Medieval pottery and other finds have been discovered either side of the present sea wall.
  Near Magor Pill there was a landing place referred to in many archaeological reports as Abergwaitha, which was lost to the sea through coastal erosion in the 14th century. However early documents refer to it as Aberweythel.
  A small trading boat, dated by dendrochronology to 1240 A.D., was found in the Estuary at Magor Pill in 1994.  The surviving part of this boat is in the National Museum of Wales.
  
During the Middle Ages White Wall was a drove way. This was a broad grassy track to drive cattle or other animals between Magor, the coastal pastures and Redwick. Much of the grazing on the Levels was only available in the summer and there would have been an annual migration of cattle from upland areas to these low lying areas for the summer grazing. In early records the drove way is referred to as White Wall Common. The Common was enclosed in the middle of the 19th century and there are now several houses alongside the road. There may have been a stone wall under the existing road along White Wall as the road shows signs of subsidence and cracking.  A stone revetment wall still exists on Black Wall Reen East, but this has not been dated.  As will be seen the reen system on Magor Marsh is likely to be Medieval.  

Early History of Magor
The earliest identified documents mentioning Magor date to the 12th century
.  A charter of 1239 confirmed a grant by Gilbert, Earl of Pembroke, of Magor church to the Italian monastery of St. Maria de Gloria, Anagri.  In 1246 the manor of Magor passed from the Marshall family to the Ferrers and then, in 1268-9, to the Clares.  All these families were major landowners and heavily involved in the politics of medieval England and Wales.  However, by 1282 Magor, with its sub-manor of Redwick, had become a Royal manor.   During the reign of Edward III six separate families held land by knight’s fee directly from the king, so the land holdings around Magor would be complex. It is not known if Magor became a borough in its own right.
     
By tradition the church at Magor was founded by Cadwaladr in the 7th century. Cadwaladr Fendigaid (Cadwaladr the Blessed) is alleged to be the last Welsh ruler to assume the title of ‘King of Britain’, and is said to have fought in many battles against the Saxons. According to Geoffrey of Monmouth, the author of a highly imaginative “History of the Kings of Britain”, written in the twelve century, Cadwaladr (some times referred to as Cadwallader) died in 689 A.D. The nearby parish of Bishton is also said to have been founded by Cadwaladr, an early spelling being Llangadwaladr.
  
The parish church of Magor is an impressive building with a  fine 13th century tower.  It was dedicated to St. Leonard and a document of 1247 confirms this
. It is thought that St. Leonard was a hermit who lived in the 6th century.  St. Leonard became one of the most popular saints in the later Middle Ages, being the patron saint of pregnant women and captives such as prisoners of war. In the 19th century Magor church was restored and was rededicated to St Mary the Virgin.  
However there is a link between the Magor Marsh Reserve and St Leonard as one of the reens on the reserve was known as St Leonard’s reen in the 17th century.  This may be what is now called Cwrta Well reen, and could also relate to a trackway going from the parish church southwards across the present reserve, towards Lower Grange Farm. The 1902 Ordnance Survey shows a foot path to the west of Cwrta Well reen and this eventually reaches Lower Grange Farm.  A line of scrub down the middle of the plot of land between Cwrta Well reen and Pwll Uffern reen may be an earlier course of this path way.   
Lower Grange Farm, also known as Moor Grange, was one of the farms owned by the Cistercians of Tintern Abbey and was acquired soon after the foundation of the Abbey in 1131A.D.  The Cistercians were known to enclose reclaimed land and Moor Grange had particular problems since it was at that time next to the coastal marshes and would have been subject to frequent flooding.  As a result they were granted rights (at least from 1245 A.D.)  “that about the boundary of their land and grange in the moor of Magor they may make a ditch at their will, and in the ditch they may do what they will, and the water-courses within and without they may order as they see fit.”
  Thus it appears that it was the Cistercian monks drained the land to the south of Magor Marsh Reserve and may have been responsible for some of the reens associated with the reserve.
Both Lower Grange Farm and the main Magor Marsh Reserve are enclosed in a distinct wedge of land formed by Pill Street to the south, Whitewall to the east, Blackwall to the west, and Magor Village to the north. It may be that this formed the boundary of the Grange, but more likely the southern edge of Magor Marsh Reserve was the actual boundary, as the reens either side of this boundary do not line up.  Also the small plots of land to the north west of the present reserve are of a similar type to plots at Lower End (west of Magor) and were used by the townspeople as rough pasture. A deed and map of 1812 refers to plots near Blackwall Reen as “burgegies” suggesting that these small plots were part of the town.
  Magor Marsh was probably drained in separate sections and at a different time from Lower Grange Farm.  However it seems that the whole area of the Magor Marsh Reserve, apart from the pool, had been drained by the 16th century, when there is documentary evidence relating to the reens on the present reserve.
Drainage
The sea wall protecting the Levels allows the land to be drained through a system of ditches or reens.  There is considerable debate as to whether the Romans ever built a sea wall, but if they had it was not the present seawall which is Medieval or later in origin. A Roman sea wall (if it existed) has been lost in the Severn Estuary.  There is, however, evidence for Roman drainage ditches under the present reen system on the Wentlooge Levels and also for these ditches continuing under the existing sea wall and out on to the present foreshore.
  The Roman drainage work was most likely undertaken by the Second Augustan Legion based at the fortress of Isca (modern Caerleon).  During the Roman period land suitable for draining would have existed in what is now the Severn foreshore.
The traditional method of drainage can still be seen today.  This consists of a grid of minor ditches called “grips” draining into field ditches and out into the reen system. The fields could be ridged between the grips to assist drainage (a system called “ridge and vurrow” – not to be confused with “ridge and furrow” which was used for arable cultivation).  Grips are visible in the south west part of the Magor Marsh Reserve, and these fields were traditionally used as pasture.  Water in the major reens then flowed towards the seawall, where it could escape into the estuary by the means of tidal doors or flaps called “gouts”.  Unlike the Fens in Eastern England around the Wash there was no reliance on pumps.  As on the reserve today it was possible to block reens by means of planks, to retain water if it was required for irrigation or watering livestock.  These structures are known as “stanks”. 
Access to fields on the reserve could be by bridges of stone or brick, but in some of the smaller fields access would have been by removable planks.  This meant that no gates or barriers apart from the reens would be necessary to contain livestock.
The names of reens.
There are several ‘walls’ associated with the names of reens on the Gwent Levels. The word ‘reen’ is a corruption of ‘rhine’ or ‘rheen’, used in the South West of England as a term for a ditch.  A ‘wall’ could be a term for an embankment. For example in the 17th century fens and marshes in Essex were referred to as being “maintained with banks they call walls”.
   However on the Gwent Levels ‘walls’ are often associated with reens which had no raised bank or revetment walls. Exceptionally Black Wall Reen East has a stone wall of unknown date visible in the side of ditch.  It could be that the term ‘wall’ was just a customary name, used out of its original context.
To the east of Magor Marsh Reserve is the road called White Wall with White Wall Reen on its west side.  White Wall is mentioned in a deed of 1469 as a “passum” and it has been suggested that “passum” could mean a grassy track.
  To the west of the reserve is the track called Black Wall with Black Wall Reen East and Black Wall Reen West on either side.  “Blake walle” is mentioned in a 13th century deed.

The reason for naming these reens “black” and “white” is not known. The Cistercians of Tintern Abbey held Lower Grange Farm and the Cistercians were known as ‘white monks’.  Conceivably this may have given rise to White Wall.  Possibly Black Wall was called as such to distinguish it from White Wall. There is no obvious connection with the Benedictine or ‘black monks’ although they had a Priory at nearby Goldcliff.  On the other hand Professor Hywel Wyn Owen suggests that the terms could refer to the colour of the soil or shaded/sunlit location.
To the west of Black Wall are Rush Wall Reen, Stutwall Reen, Petty Reen and Ynis Wall Reen. Rush presumably indicates it was associated with rushes. According to Professor Owen Stutwall could be ‘stout wall’ or a personal name Stout. He suggests that Petty is the derivative petty ‘toilet’ (and still ‘ty bach’ in colloquial Welsh) in reference to a particularly dirty, muddy, smelly drain.  Ynis is the Welsh word ynys meaning ‘island’, probably here referring to the ridge of dry land south of the back fen.     
On the reserve Cwrta Well Reen or Courty Well Reen can possibly be interpreted as a Welsh/English combination, with a Welsh variant cwrt in use.  The name is preserved in Court Farm, which had land on the Reserve. 17th century deeds refer to Court hay as a parcel of land. “Court” could refer to an enclosed area, maybe in the area between Black Wall and White Wall.  A former name for this reen is ‘St Leonard’s Reen’, which refers to the dedication of Magor Parish Church.
  Mr Richard Morgan of the Glamorgan Record Office suggests that Cwrta Well may be the Welsh plural Cwrta (pronounced ‘cwta’ in south east Wales) of cwrt which frequently means a monastic grange.  This would be an obvious link with Lower (Moor) Grange to the south. 
Pwll Uffern Reen has the most interesting connotations of all the named reens. The English translation is ‘Hell’s Pool’, and this is the name still used in the area.  In 1634 a deed refers to a reen called Pull y ffern.  In 1664 the reen is called Pull ystern but this is surely a corruption of the name as it is called Pull y ffern again in 1668. 
The pool has now been greatly enlarged to form a pond for wading birds, but what was originally Pwll Uffern Pond is fed by a spring from the higher ground to the north.  Pwll Uffern Reen flows south from the pond, and the name now refers to the reen along the southern boundary of the main reserve. 
Derek Upton has commented that according to local tradition the name came about because of a mishap to a cart going from Magor and carrying a bell for Redwick Church. Allegedly, the bell fell from the cart into the pond, but this is unlikely as they were usually cast in bell pits close to the church for which they were intended, and in any case would have been carried along White Wall.  
There are other pools called Pwll Uffern in Wales. One is in the Pysgotwr Gorge in Cardiganshire and another near Abergwesyn in Carmarthenshire which reputedly was “near hell because snow always melted quickly due to heat from the place”.  The Magor Pwll Uffern is a spring and the Devil was sometimes associated with wells or springs by the Christian priesthood to denigrate pagan deities associated with them.
Magor Marsh in the 19th Century
The earliest maps showing in detail the entire area of the present reserve are on a Survey by Thomas Morris for the Court of Sewers dated 1830
 and the Tithe Apportionment Map for Magor dated 1847.  It is not certain when the Monmouthshire Court of Sewers was established but the Statute of Sewers of 1531 formed the basis of the work of such courts, until the courts were superseded by the Drainage Boards set up by the Land Drainage Act of 1930. The Monmouthshire Court of Sewers ceased to function in 1942 when its work was taken over by the Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Drainage Board. 
The task of the Court of Sewers was to maintain the sea defences of the county and the drainage of the low lying lands of southern Monmouthshire. The tithe maps of all parishes were drawn up after the Tithe Commutation Act of 1836.  The tithe was a tax of one tenth of the produce of land and was used to support the parish clergy and church.  The Act converted payment of the tithe into an annual rent and the maps were produced to show how the rent was to be apportioned. These rents were in turn abolished under the Tithe Act of 1925 and the Tithe Act of 1936.   
Magor Marsh Reserve is now an area of national importance and the largest example of the fenland that once covered the Gwent Levels. However for most of its recent history it was wet pasture land. The reserve we know today has been a recreation of an earlier landscape, made by controlling and raising the water level through sluices.

This wet pasture was once a series of about twenty small fields, divided by reens and ditches, and was mainly used for grazing during the summer months.  The 1847 tithe map (fig 1) lists the owners and occupiers of these lands, and shows there were at that time nine different owners and nine occupiers in a dispersed arrangement.  The owner of the largest holding was the Duke of Beaufort, whose ancestor, Henry Somerset, second earl of Worcester, had been granted the Tintern Abbey farms of Upper and Lower Grange Magor at the time of the dissolution of the monasteries by Henry VIII.
Fig.1  Magor Marsh.  Holdings shown on the Tithe Map 1847.

Table 1.  Magor Marsh  Owners and Occupiers at the time of the 1847 Tithe Map.

Plot Number    Owner                              Occupier                 State        A.  R.  P.(
82                    Sir Charles Morgan          James Long             pasture     5.   2.   25.
83                    The Duke of Beaufort       John Hodges           pasture     1.   0.  30.
84                    Walter Morgan                 in hand                    pasture      0.   3.  31
85                    Samuel Edwards               in hand                    pasture      0.   3.  24

86                    Sarah Jones                       Philip Richard         pasture      0.   1.  28
87                    Colthurst Bateman            John Hale                meadow    0.   1.   29

88                    The Duke of Beaufort       John Hodges            pasture      0.   2.  11                                                                                                              
89                    Colthurst Bateman            John Hale                 pasture      4.   0.    0
90                    The Duke of Beaufort       John Hodges            pasture      0.   3.  12
91                    Sir Charles Morgan           James Long              pasture     5.    2.  25

92                    The Duke of Beaufort       David Joseph            pasture     3.    2.    0

93                    Sir Charles Morgan           James Long              pasture      3.   3.   25

94                    Ann James                         Richard Jones           pasture      4.    0.    3
95                    James Long                        John Watts               pasture      4.    0.  14
220                  Sir Charles Morgan            Edward Edmonds    meadow     5.    1.   5
221                  Sir Charles Morgan            Edward Edmonds    meadow     4.    3.  11

222                  James Long                        William Edwards    meadow     7.    1.   29
223                  James Hodges                     in hand                     meadow     4.    0.   20

224                  James Hodges                     in hand                     pasture       4.    2.   25

225                  The Duke of Beaufort         John Hodges            pasture       2.    3.   34
The Coming of the Railway.
The northern edge of Magor Marsh Reserve was greatly altered by the building of the railway between Chepstow, Newport and Swansea.   The South Wales Railway Company started work on the line on 4th August 1846 and it was officially opened on 18th June 1850.  In 1863 the South Wales Railway was incorporated into the Great Western Railway.  At Magor the railway line meant that an embankment had to be built, cutting off the area of Magor Marsh from the town.
  The present road bridge was built next to it a railway station, with three platforms connected by a footbridge alongside the bridge.  This foot bridge has now been replaced by one further to the east. Magor Station was closed on 2nd November 1964, a casualty of the ‘Beeching cuts’. In 1884 the collector for the Railway Station was Thomas Wellington. 

The present road, to serve the new road bridge north of the reserve, was built between Whitewall and Blackwall.  On this road, just to the east of the bridge, was the entrance to a short track leading to two stables associated with the railway.
 The ruins of these buildings can still be seen from the road, in the undergrowth at the top end of the reserve near the pool.
Work for the railway severely interrupted the watercourses on the Levels.  This had a detrimental effect in many places and in 1849 the Commissioners of Sewers sought legal advice about obstructions.  The most serious complaint was not on Magor Marsh but at Monksditch Reen (which flowed into Goldcliff Pill) where the Railway Company had driven a lot of piles through the centre of the reen.  In a letter to the Railway the legal advisors for the Commissioners said that “legal proceedings will commence if immediate steps are not taken by the Company for the removal of the nuisances complained of.”  In response the Company wrote to say that “Mr Brunel’s
 attention had been called to it and no doubt [the Commissioners] would have a further communication before a court hearing”.  Brunel must have satisfied the Commissioners as the papers give no evidence of a court case.
 
Acquisition of the Reserve
The area of the present reserve continued to be owned and occupied by a number of different people until well into the 20th century.  In 1964 the newly formed Monmouthshire Naturalist Trust began acquiring land on the reserve. The Trust had been formed in response to various threats to local habitats, including wetlands and at that time there were grants available to purchase land.  Tom Sawyer, the first secretary of the Trust, recalls that inquiries were made with the Drainage Board for suitable plots to buy or lease. On their recommendation the Trust became interested in the area of the present reserve.  The South Wales Argus for 31st. October 1964 reported:

“Monmouthshire Naturalist Trust acquired three nature reserves in its first year, members learned at the first annual general meeting at Usk Memorial Hall.

Disclosing that the Trust has recently acquired a seven years lease on a fifty acre fenland reserve at Magor, Mr P.N. Humphreys (Chairman of the scientific sub-committee of the Trust) said that the site was of a very great interest, particularly from the botanical and ornithological standpoint”. Since then the Trust (now the Gwent Wildlife Trust) has gradually acquired and purchased more land, most recently in the area to the west of Blackwall Reen.
Bob Trett
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